1960

Hogan Dairy Co. v. Creamery Package Manufacturing Co. : Brief of Plaintiff and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff, Hogan Dairy, hereinafter referred to as HOGAN, is a Utah corporation, doing a dairy business in the Salt Lake Valley. Defendant, Creamery Package Manufacturing Company, hereinafter referred to as CREAMERY PACKAGE, is an Illinois corporation which manufactures and sells Milk Processing Equipment

including equipment known as Vac Heat and Ultra High Temperature Equipment, hereinafter referred to as VAC HEAT.

During the month of April 1958, Blaine Anderson, a salesman for Creamery Package, approached Hogan to sell it a Vac Heat unit. Anderson told Hogan what the machine would do in the processing of milk and gave Hogan literature put out by Creamery Package describing what the machine would do. (Ex. 2P) The representations by Creamery Package were two-fold; first, unappetizing flavors and odors would be eliminated from milk and the milk would thereby acquire a uniformly good flavor and odor; second, the milk processed would acquire a longer "shelf life" which, in the industry, is understood to mean keeping quality. (Tr. 8, 15) These were to be accomplished by subjecting the milk to ultra high temperatures, thereby getting a greater kill of bacteria normally present in milk and consequently increasing the shelf life because of less action of bacteria, and by putting the milk in a vacuum and drawing off the volatile portions which contain unwanted flavors and odors.

Hogan evidenced an interest in the machine and a desire to acquire it but was worried about being able to finance the transaction. Hogan asked if it could be acquired on a rental, instead of a purchase, basis inasmuch as Hogan did not have the \$6,300.00 cash needed to purchase it and would obtain a tax advantage by renting instead of purchasing on time. (Tr. 17, 65, 320) Cream-

ery Package had no rental set-up but said that it could arrange to accomplish this by having an equipment rental company, in the general business of renting all types of equipment, acquire the machine and simultaneously lease it to Hogan. National Equipment Ltd., hereinafter referred to as NATIONAL a New York corporation, was selected as the financing company.

It was agreed between Hogan and Creamery Package, in lieu of Hogan's buying from Creamery Package, Creamery Package would sell the Vac Heat to National and National would lease it to Hogan, but that delivery would be made directly from Creamery Package to Hogan and Creamery Package would plan and supervise the proper installation and initial operation thereof. (Tr. 17-19, 23, 24, 302, 328, 346)

Upon reaching an agreement that Hogan would get the machine, Hogan undertook a greatly expanded advertising program plugging the merits of milk processed by Vac Heat, advertising that it would have better keeping qualities and a "Hi-Fi" flavor. (Tr. 26, 180, 198) Cartons for Hogan milk were ordered which advertised the new process. (Tr. 85, 87, 101) In August of 1958, Creamery Package sold the Vac Heat to National and National leased it to Hogan, and it was delivered directly from Creamery Package to Hogan. (Tr. 27, 326) Creamery Package personnel drew plans and flow sheets and designs diagramming the installation, and supervised the installation of the Vac Heat, in accordance with the agreement. (Tr. 26-28, 328)

From the time the machine was first installed troubles developed. (Tr. 29, 30) The milk so processed had an unappetizing flavor, a scorched taste and offensive odor. (Tr. 31, 103, 106-122, 135-139, 151) In addition to the problems of flavor and odor, the milk so processed had a very short shelf life and putrefied rapidly. (Tr. 106-122, 172)

These difficulties were at once apparent to Hogan, (Tr. 29, 31) not only from their own observations and tests but also because of the complaints of customers which at once skyrocketed. (Tr. 102, 141)

Hogan immediately and continuously complained to the Creamery Package men of the results obtained. Numerous changes in the installation were made by Creamery Package such as re-positioning valves, changing pipes, etc., to reduce the time the milk was exposed to ultra high temperatures. (Tr. 36, 289, 291, 292) On each occasion that a complaint was made by Hogan, Creamery Package men assured Hogan either that the difficulties were not caused by the Vac Heat unit or that the problems had been or would be remedied. (Tr. 46, 47, 144, 145, 147, 170, 192, 289, 291, 298, 299, 306, 309, 310, 333, 342, 343, 344, 397)

In November of 1958 an air leak in the machine was found. Hogan and Creamery Package had suspected a leak because excessive foam had always been encountered but it was not found until four months after installation. The leak was in a weld in the Vac Heat unit. (Tr. 38) The mechanical operation of the machine improved sub-

stantially after this air leak was plugged. After the plugging of the air leak, the modifications in installation, and the advent of cold weather, the problems ceased. They started to re-occur the next summer and when Hogan started again to get complaints from customers, it disconnected the machine and did not subsequently use it and the problems ceased. (Tr. 45)

The rental contract between National and Hogan made Hogan liable for rentals regardless of the quality or nature of the operation of the machine by an express disclaimer of any warranty on the part of National. (Ex. 4D) Hogan paid rentals and still has the machine for which it has no use. (Tr. 46)

It would be an understatement to say that Hogan customers were dissatisfied with the milk processed by Vac Heat between August and November. The advertising campaign was getting new customers but the number of new ones could not keep pace with the number of old customers quitting. Not only did many retail customers quit, but also wholesale outlets were lost, the most important of which were the Albertson stores, which had just been acquired. (Tr. 177)

Explanations given by some of the experts for the problems encountered were as follows :

A cooked flavor or a scorched taste was imparted to the milk by the ultra high heat. In addition to the scorched taste, in many instances, there was a putrid flavor which could be attributed to the fact that the ultra

high heat, in killing off most of the bacteria, killed those bacteria which normally create acid which sours milk. In doing so, other putrefying bacteria, which in their spore form can resist high temperatures and which normally are inhibited by acid formed by other types of bacteria were left free to develop. The heat resistant spores freely and uninhibitedly developed and the milk thereby became putrid instead of souring. (Tr. 130) It did so at a greatly increased rate so that the shelf life instead of being lengthened was shortened and a rotten odor rapidly developed in milk so processed if it was not ideally refrigerated by the user. (Tr. 105-121, 135-137)

Some of Creamery Package experts attributed the bad flavor and poor shelf life to factors other than the use of the Vac Heat unit because Vac Heat had been used by dairies in other sections of the country successfully. But bacteria present in raw milk, both in their spore form and otherwise, vary from area to area (Tr. 261, 385) so that a process might be successful in one area and not in another. The only units which had been tried in Utah were both unsuccessful and were removed because of problems with rapid putrefaction and bad odors. (Tr. 129, 132, 215) Hogan's practices in operation of the dairy did not change during the period involved except in the use of the Vac Heat machine and no such problems had arisen before nor did they arise after the removal of the unit. (Tr. 411)

Hogan attributed the following damage to the Vac Heat Unit:

Cost of replacement milk, (Tr. 48, 178)
 Loss of employees, (Tr. 152, 174)
 Loss of customers, (Tr. 157, 160, 171, 226)
 Loss of value of advertising, (Tr. 189)
 Loss of value of promotional expenditures, (Tr. 190)
 Loss of income, (Tr. 218)
 Loss of good will, (Tr. 183)

The Vac Heat unit could easily have been completely by-passed and eliminated from the treatment process by changing pipe connections, which would have taken about 20 minutes, (Tr. 295). The ultra high heat could have been eliminated by turning off the steam injection valve which would have taken a few seconds. Either would have eliminated the problems caused by the unit. (Tr. 365) Hogan did not do either although it knew that

- (a) The flow of milk through the unit was too slow and fluctuated excessively. (Tr. 29, 31)
- (b) Excessive foam occurred in the unit. (Tr. 31, 411)
- (c) The milk had a cooked flavor which did not dissipate as it should have done. (Tr. 31, 313)
- (d) The milk had a poor shelf life. (Tr. 151)
- (e) Some milk putrefied. (Tr. 138)
- (f) There was no cavitation (rattling sound) which is necessary for efficient operation. (Tr. 410)
- (g) Complaints of customers tremendously increased. (Tr. 141)
- (h) Customers quit. (Tr. 169)

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

INSTRUCTION NO. 13 IS ERRONEOUS.

POINT II.

FAILING TO GIVE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1 WAS ERROR.

POINT III.

FAILING TO GIVE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 3 WAS ERROR.

POINT IV.

FAILING TO GIVE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 5 WAS ERROR.

POINT V.

ADMISSION OF EXHIBITS 11D AND 12D WAS ERROR.

POINT VI.

THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY THE VERDICT AND THE VERDICT IS AGAINST LAW.

POINT VII.

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

INSTRUCTION NO. 13 IS ERRONEOUS.

The instruction is as follows :

“You are instructed that if plaintiff continued to operate the machinery in question after it discovered, or should have discovered, that the machinery was not operating properly and that such defect in the Vac-Heat machinery was causing the contamination of plaintiff's milk product, then it was the duty of the plaintiff to desist and re-

frain from using said machinery and that if plaintiff did continue to use said machinery after discovering defects therein, or improper functioning of the same, then you are instructed that the plaintiff cannot recover for any damages resulting from continued use after plaintiff had knowledge, or in the exercise of reasonable care should have had knowledge of the defective operation of the Vac-Heat machinery and that such defect in the Vac-Heat machinery was causing the contamination of plaintiff's milk product."

The reason the use of the unit was not discontinued was that Creamery Package men were the experts supervising the installation and initial operation and they assured Hogan each time a complaint was made, that the problems were not caused by Vac-Heat, or the problems would be remedied, or the problems had been remedied by changes made. Hogan had had no experience with the unit and relied on the experience and ability of Creamery Package to get it operating properly as it had been agreed Creamery Package should do, and as its experts said it would and could do. Hogan's entire sales promotion was based upon its successful operation. Yet the court gave instruction No. 13 which prohibited any recovery if Hogan knew or should have known of defective operation of the Vac-Heat unit. That was the equivalent of giving a directed verdict in favor of Creamery Package because the evidence was uncontradicted that Hogan knew of flavor and mechanical problems from the time of installation and also knew of the shelf life or putrefaction problems from the time they arose. Hogan always attributed these problems to the Vac-Heat unit.

The correct rule qualifies the obligation to stop using the unit by relating it to what a reasonable man under the circumstances would have done.

The case of *Beagley v. United States Gypsum Company*, 120 U. 487, 235 P. 2d 783, 789, states the rule as being that plaintiff must do "all a reasonable person would have done under like circumstances in order to minimize his loss."

The rule is generally stated in 15 *Am. Jur.*, Damages, Par. 28, as follows:

"The measure of his duty is such care and diligence as a man of ordinary prudence would use under the circumstances, and the efforts required of him must be determined by the rules of common sense, good faith, and fair dealing. What constitutes reasonable care depends upon the circumstances of the particular case, taking into consideration time, knowledge, opportunity, and expense."

In applying this generalized statement, it is further stated as follows:

"An injured person may recover to the full extent of his injury where he shows reasonable grounds for his failure to make an effort to lessen his damages. Thus, the repeated assurance of the defendant after an injury has begun that he will remedy the condition is sufficient justification for the plaintiff's failure to take steps to minimize loss, so long, at least, as there is ground for expecting that he will perform."

Norfolk & W. R. Co. v. Amicon Fruit Co., (C.C.A. 4th) 269 F. 559, 14 A.L.R. 547.

An annotation in 81 A.L.R. 282 on "Duty to Mitigate Damages" discusses various cases, some of which discussion is quoted.

"The obligation to minimize damages never requires a party to exercise more than reasonable care to that end (*Louisville & N. R. Co. v. Sandlin* (1925) 209 Ky. 442, 272 S.W. 912)

"The rule is simply one of good faith and fair dealing. *Gilbert v. Kennedy* (1871) 22 Mich. 117. It does not require one to do his utmost to minimize damages, without regard to his own interests, but only what is reasonable under the circumstances. *Bridgeport v. Aetna Indem. Co.*, (1919) 93 Conn. 277, 105 Atl. 680."

The case of *Lopeman v. Gee*, 40 Wash. 2d 586, 245 P.2d 183, deals with a similar problem. Headnote 7, is as follows:

"Where owners of stored onions complained to agents of warehouseman that onions were sweating and becoming damp and mouldy and, upon each occasion, were assured that the storage conditions complained of would be remedied, owners were entitled to rely upon these assurances and did not have duty to mitigate damages by taking onions out of storage as soon as they learned of threatened loss."

The Court said:

"Appellant urges it was respondents' duty to mitigate damages by taking the onions out of storage as soon as they learned of the threatened loss. It is true, one is ordinarily required to make rea-

sonable efforts to avoid the consequence of another's wrongful act by avoiding any consequences resulting therefrom. However, if, after an injury is begun, there are repeated assurances from the wrongdoer that the condition complained of will be remedied, there is no duty upon the part of the injured party to take steps to minimize the loss so long as there are grounds to expect that he will perform. *Florence Fish Co. v. Everett Packing Co.*, 111 Wash. 1, 188 P. 792; *McCormick*, Damages, 140, Sec. 38; Annotation, 81 A.L.R. 282 at page 284.

"The trial court found that 'plaintiffs complained to agents of defendant in charge of said storage and upon each occasion were assured that the storage condition complained of would be remedied.' Plaintiffs, under the circumstances of this case, were entitled to rely upon these assurances."

See also *Sears Roebuck v. Grant*, Wash., 298 P. 2d 497.

The repeated assurances of the defendant after an injury has begun, that he will remedy the condition, is sufficient justification for the plaintiff's failure to take steps to minimize loss, so long, at least, as there is ground for expecting that he will perform. *Kentucky Distilleries & Warehouse Co. v. Lillard* (1908) 87 C. C.A. 190, 160 F. 34; *Illinois C.R.C. v. Doss* (1910) 137 Ky. 658, 126 S.W. 349.

Furthermore, the duty to mitigate damages does not relate to the performance of the primary obligations of the contract. So, where one whose duty it is to do work

necessary to fulfill a contract had equal knowledge of the consequences of noncompliance and opportunity to fulfill the obligation, he alone may be depended on to perform the duty, and it will not avail him to say the injured party might have lessened the damages. *Louisville, N.A. & C.R. Co. v. Sumner* (1886) 106 Ind. 55, 55 Am. Rep. 719, 5 NE 404. Therefore, since the primary obligation of the agreement was that Creamery Package would install the machine and get it functioning properly, Creamery Package could not defend on the ground that Hogan is barred because it knew the unit was operating improperly.

The trial court in its memorandum decision denying a motion for a new trial tacitly admitted that instruction No. 13 is erroneous by stating "Although the Instruction No. 13 might have been modified to meet the criticisms of the cases cited by counsel for plaintiff, it seemed to fit the circumstances and requirements of our lawsuit and is thought not to be prejudicial in any event" because of Instruction No. 16. But Instruction No. 16 was merely an instruction that damages must be the natural and probable result of the breach of contract. Instruction 16 reads as follows:

"INSTRUCTION NO. 16

"If you resolve in favor of the plaintiff the issue as to whether or not there was a contract between the parties, as required by the foregoing instruction, you are instructed that the damages which plaintiff is entitled to recover in respect to such breach of contract are those as may fairly and reasonably be considered, either arising

naturally and probably, that is, according to the natural course of things, from such breach, and as such as may reasonably be supposed to have been in contemplation of the parties at the time they made the contract, as the probable result of its breach.

“Recoverable elements of damage may include, among other elements, injury to business reputation, loss of business standing, loss of customers or business, loss of employees. The profits which would have been realized had the contract been performed, and which have been prevented by its breach, are included in the damages which may be recovered if they are the natural and proximate result of the breach complained of and are capable of ascertainment with reasonable certainty.”

Reading 16 and 13 together the plain meaning is that 13 restricts 16 so that those damages which are the natural and probable result of the breach of contract are recoverable only if Hogan did not and should not have known that Vac-Heat was causing the trouble. How can an instruction which bars recovery be non-prejudicial?

The trial court further stated in its memorandum decision that “Instruction 13 was directed to and related only to what might be called subsequent damages—The conclusion seems justified, therefore, that the jury found that there was no contract.” Such reasoning would be true only if there were an initial period during which Hogan did not blame Vac Heat for the problems encountered. The evidence is clear that Hogan knew of improper functioning beginning with the very first oper-

ation in August and continuing into November. (Tr. 29-32, 46, 144, 145, 192, 289, 291, 299, 307, 313, 332) Under instruction 13 Hogan had a duty to immediately stop using the unit and therefore the jury could not find in its favor.

POINT II.

FAILING TO GIVE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1 WAS ERROR.

The requested instruction was as follows:

“INSTRUCTION NO. 1

“You are instructed that the evidence is uncontradicted, that plaintiff and defendant agreed as follows:

“Defendant agreed to sell to National Equipment Rental Limited a Vac Heat Unit. Plaintiff agreed to lease said Vac Heat Unit from the Rental Company. Defendant did sell to the Rental Company and plaintiff did lease from the Rental Company said unit. Defendant further agreed that for and in consideration of plaintiff agreeing to lease said unit from the Leasing Company defendant would ship said unit directly to plaintiff, defendant would supervise the installation of said unit according to plans and specifications furnished by defendant, defendant would furnish the technical personnel necessary to install said unit in proper operating condition, defendant would furnish qualified personnel to instruct plaintiff in the proper operation of said unit. The evidence is further undisputed that defendant represented and agreed with plaintiff that if plaintiff acquired said unit and used it in the processing of its milk that said unit would improve the flavor of milk so processed and would improve the keeping qual-

ities or shelf life of said milk. You are therefore instructed that there is no issue as to whether or not there was an agreement between the parties and you are instructed that there was an agreement as above described.”

The evidence of the facts set forth in the request is uncontradicted. The testimony of Max Hogan (Tr. 6-24) established the agreement. This testimony was not only not contradicted but was corroborated by the testimony of Blaine Anderson who made the agreement on behalf of Creamery Package and who certainly would have corrected any misstatement by Max Hogan. It was therefore the duty of the court to instruct that there was a contract and submit to the jury only the question of breach and damage rather than to let the jury speculate on the existence or non-existence of an agreement.

Moore, in discussing the Federal practice, which Utah should follow, says:

“Where no evidence is adduced to disprove the prima facie case of the plaintiff and his evidence stands uncontradicted and unimpeached, the court should direct.” 5 *Moore’s Federal Practice*, 2314, Note 7.

In *Cannan v. Curkeet*, 86 F. 2d 573, the court said:

“It is elementary that, in Federal courts, where undisputed evidence demands a verdict in favor of one of the parties, it is the duty of the judge to direct it.”

In *Brandon v. Holman*, 41 F. 2d 586, a bank cashier, according to the undisputed testimony, improperly paid out money for his own gain. In affirming a verdict for

the plaintiff the court said:

“The verdict should be directed when the evidence . . . with all inferences that the jury could draw from it, leads to but one conclusion.”

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