1960

Hogan Dairy Co. v. Creamery Package Manufacturing Co. : Brief of Defendant and Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

If the jury believed the testimony offered on behalf of the defendant, the jury would have to return a verdict in favor of the defendant Creamery Package Manufacturing Company, as it did. The jury having found in the defendant's favor, defendant is entitled to have the evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom, viewed in a light most favorable to it. In view of deficiencies in appellant's statement of facts, it becomes necessary for us to restate the facts, and to set before the court the evi-

dence which apparently was accepted by the jury in arriving at its verdict. It may be noted here, that if the jury believed any one of the four witnesses called by the defendant, such would be sufficient to support the verdict and judgment in defendant's favor.

Blaine Anderson, defendant's sales representative, testified as follows: (Tr. 314 to 345)

He first learned about the equipment known as Vac Heat #330 in March of 1958, at a lecture given by Horace L. Mitten, Jr., at a short dairy course at Logan, Utah. Max Hogan, the technical man for the plaintiff Hogan Dairy attended the same lecture.

Thereafter, Anderson called upon the Hogans at West Jordan to see if they were interested in purchasing this piece of equipment. Later, in about April, Mr. Anderson was invited to attend a directors meeting of the Hogan Dairy at West Jordan. At the same meeting a representative of a competitive company met with the board, and explained his equipment. Following that, Anderson was invited to explain defendant's Vac Heat Unit. He spent about 30 or 40 minutes in the directors' meeting. After he finished discussing with the directors the qualities of the Vac Heat equipment, he showed them a piece of literature explaining the 330 Vac Heat equipment, as well as other equipment. (Ex. P-1). At the conclusion of his presentation, he was asked if it was possible for the Hogan Dairy to rent or lease this piece of equipment from Creamery Package, and the answer was

no, that the only way plaintiff could get one from the defendant was to buy it, either on a deferred payment plan, or a cash sale. Then Mr. Anderson volunteered to them, that there were companies who made a business of buying equipment and renting or leasing it to people who wanted to use it, and gave them the names of two or three companies that he knew about, and then he left the meeting without any understanding or agreement or commitments by either party. At that time the directors of Hogan Dairy had not made up their minds as to which type of equipment they should acquire, or from whom.

A few days thereafter, Max Hogan called Anderson and told him the Hogan Dairy had decided to obtain the 330 unit, and said if Mr. Anderson had any blanks by which they could make an application with some company who would purchase the equipment and lease it to them, he would appreciate it. Thereafter, Mr. Anderson gave to the Hogans some application forms to be filled out by them, to acquire the use of Vac Heat on a rental basis. Mr. Anderson gave them blank forms from the National Equipment Rental Company of New York, which application was filled out by the Hogans and transmitted to the National Rental Equipment Company.

The next thing Mr. Anderson learned, was by a copy of a letter addressed to the Hogan Dairy, Inc., from the National Equipment Rental Ltd., dated April 29, 1958, (Ex. 5-D), stating that as soon as the lease agreement, (Ex. 4-D), was entered into between the National Rental

and the Hogans, and the initial check paid to the rental company, it would purchase from the Creamery Package Company the equipment in question, and have it shipped directly to the Hogan Dairy at West Jordan, with the request to extend to the Hogan Dairy as the user, all guaranties and warranties and services that would normally accompany it.

Next Mr. Anderson received a purchase order, dated May 8th, (Ex. 10-D), requesting the Creamery Package to ship the unit in question to the Hogans at West Jordan. In the left hand corner at the bottom of this document is printed: "All guaranties, warranties and services normally accompanying this equipment are to be extended directly to the consignee."

Thereafter, the equipment was shipped directly to the Hogans at West Jordan, and in accordance with the provisions of Ex. 5-D and 10-D, Mr. Anderson assisted the Hogans in setting up the equipment in the Hogan Dairy. *He told the Hogans that it would have to be checked over by a factory man before it could be put in operation*, but Mr. Hogan, Sr., replied that it would go into operation the next day, with or without the help of Mr. Anderson. Accordingly, the Hogans did attempt to operate the equipment without its first being tested, and the results were unsatisfactory to them. The second day of the operation, Mr. Haxton, an engineer for the Creamery Package, and Mr. Anderson, went to the Hogan Dairy to see what they could do by way of assisting the Hogans.

They found that one valve had been improperly assembled, and the milk was being held for a longer period than it should have, which would have a tendency to give the milk a cooked taste. This valve was properly assembled and Mr. Haxton suggested to them that they hadn't set up the vacuum pump correctly, and asked them to change that.

There were complaints made to Mr. Anderson after this adjustment had been made, and Mr. Anderson requested the Hogans to furnish him with a sample of the milk that they claimed was spoiled, but with one exception, hereafter noted, he was unable to obtain such samples. He then became a customer of the Hogan Dairy, took milk daily, used it in his home, and found nothing wrong with the milk. The Hogans did, at one time, make available to Mr. Anderson two bottles of allegedly spoiled milk. They were tasted by Mr. Anderson and others. Mr. Anderson, an expert taster of milk, could find nothing wrong with it.

Mr. Haxton, a witness called by defendant after qualifying as a mechanical engineer with extensive experience in dairy machinery and equipment, testified as follows: (Tr. 285-301).

On August 5, 1958, he went to the Hogan Dairy at West Jordan, and found the plant in a cleanup condition, the milk run having been completed. He discussed the problem with Max Hogan. Hogan gave to Haxton a list of symptoms that he thought might be important. One

was that the infuser was discharging milk. Haxton dismantled the infuser, and found that it had been assembled in such a manner that it couldn't possibly have worked correctly. Hogan also complained that the vacuum was also irregular. Mr. Haxton explained to him that the pump was improperly installed, and asked him to change it. He reassembled the infuser and checked it to see that it would work.

Mr. Haxton again went to the Hogan Dairy on the 9th day of August. He didn't see Max Hogan on the second visit, he being away. The vacuum pump *had not* been changed so Haxton and Anderson changed that themselves, and that corrected the vacuum problem. Mr. Haxton and Mr. Kaufman checked over the entire equipment and ran water through it. It appeared to be alright. Mr. Haxton next saw the Hogan Dairy in November of 1958. Max Hogan told Mr. Haxton that he felt that he had been making some progress with the handling of the unit since he returned from camp. He was getting better adjusted to it, but he still felt that there was a slight cooked flavor and he wanted to know if there wasn't anything Haxton could do about that. One valve was repositioned which would reduce the time the milk would be held under the high temperature. The difference in time would be a reduction of about one-eighth. The same result could have been had by reducing the temperature by adjustment of valve #22. It was just a question of time over heat, or heat over time. One can cook by a longer period at low temperature or by a shorter period of high tem-

peratures. One could get the milk through Hogan Dairy without scorching it and without repositioning the valve. The entire Vac-Heat system could have been bypassed, by making a few adjustments requiring about twenty minutes work, and it would then operate the same as before Vac-Heat was installed.

Upon one of his visits to the Hogan Dairy, Mr. Haxton found a very minute air leak in the vacuum chamber. The air leak would have no effect on the product adversely. The only thing that could happen, there might be a small product loss if the bubbles are drawn out through the vacuum pump. That all of the times Mr. Haxton went to the Hogan dairy, he found the bubbles in the vacuum tank were normal.

Horace L. Mitten, Jr., testified as follows: (Tr. 231-255).

He is highly trained and broadly experienced in the dairy business generally, and in the Vac-Heat process in particular. He traced the processing of the milk from the farm through all the processes at the Hogan Dairy, and explained in detail each function of the various pieces of equipment. He explained that the Vac-Heat unit consisted of pipes and tanks which could not possibly in any way give any contamination to any milk which has flowed through it. Any contamination would have to occur before or after passage through the unit. Contamination could occur in the Vac-Heat unit only through failure to remove the contamination left there by a pre-

ceding flow of contaminated milk. He explained various temperatures required to destroy them; also the chemical reactions which take place in milk and what is called rancidity. The milk could not in any way receive that from going through the Vac-Heat process.

He explained how the operation is controlled, so that the milk will not be enriched or diluted, namely by extracting from the product the same quantity of water as is placed in it by using the steam bath. He explained how the operator could control both the heat and the length of time the product is subjected to the heat treatment, as simply as a housewife controls a good electric range. She may have high temperatures and bake quickly, or low temperatures and bake a long time. In other words, by the control of time and temperature, the operator gets the type of finished product that he desires.

He further testified an increased "shelf life" results from the proper use of Vac-Heat; he explains how milk may spoil after it leaves the dairy, either from having been contaminated after treatment, or not kept at the proper temperatures or exposed to light. He explains how the milk held by some retailers would spoil when not spoiled in other retail establishments.

Dr. Theodore I. Hedrick, an expert eminently qualified by scholastic training and practical experience in the dairy business, testified as follows: (Tr. 353-369)

He is Professor of Dairy and manager of a Michigan State University dairy plant. He directs the operation of the dairy plant, and instructs both under-graduate and graduate level students, including candidates for PhD degrees, and carries on independent research. The dairy he operates produces all types of dairy products. The school dairy is operated the same as a commercial plant, handling about 7,000,000 pounds a year. This dairy has a Vac-Heat unit 330, identical with the one at the Hogan Dairy, which it has had and used since December of 1958. The other dairy equipment was also about the same as that used in the Hogan Dairy.

He traced the milk from the time it entered the plant, through the various steps of the treating process, including the Vac-Heat, and the temperatures that the milk is kept at before and after treatment. He testified that the length of time that milk can be held on shelves and be palatable depends on the temperature at which it is stored. Where the storage is at 50°F. or below, the storage tests indicate the milk will keep at least two weeks and still be of average quality, but will show usually an increase in bacteria and some drop in flavor score.

Many things could cause a variation in the pasteurized milk product. First possibility would be the quality of raw milk, which varies from day to day and season to season. Other factors are the care and handling during the transportation of the milk from the farm to the plant; the care and handling of the milk in the plant prior to

pasteurization; the care with which the milk is processed. In the case of steam infusion, the quality of the steam; the sanitary practices of the dairy, and the time, care and conditions under which the milk is held after pasteurization, and in the processing of it. If it is bottled in paper containers, the type and quality of the wax used could be a factor.

Contamination would be important in influencing the keeping quality. By post contamination is meant that which occurs after the pasteurizing has been completed, and may occur anywhere down stream from the flow diversion valve. There is also the possibility of contamination at the tank form when the milk is picked up in the night, the farmer is in bed and the tank wouldn't be washed until it has had a chance to dry parts of the milk onto the tank; it could form what is known as milk stone, and the milk stone harbors all types of bacteria and would naturally contaminate the milk. One of the important type organisms in milk stone would be thermophilic in nature, and that would survive pasteurization, and likely grow after the milk is in the package and thereby spoil milk in a short time. Each dairy experiences trouble with milk spoiling and they should investigate every possibility immediately, starting with the milk supply. We think Vac-Heat gives us a more uniform product with a better keeping quality and that the customers prefer it. We have, for experimental purposes, omitted Vac-Heat treatment on occasions, and the customers asked why the difference in the milk. Any milk that

is properly pasteurized will have some degree of cooked flavor.

It would have been a simple matter for the Hogans to have completely by-passed the Vac-Heat unit, until they were able to determine the source of the trouble. Air leaks are not uncommon because of the difficulty in getting the fittings so that they fit perfectly every time. An air leak either of pinhole size, or larger, near the top of the vacuum chamber would not affect the flavor of the milk, because the milk must come in contact with air later anyway. On testing treated milk and discovering a scorched or burned flavor, it would be impossible to tell where, through the whole process, too much heat had been applied to the product.

Cleaning and sanitizing the equipment after use is a very important function, in any dairy plant. If this is done improperly, contamination will occur, particularly in the stream from the pasteurization, and this will affect the keeping quality of the milk. Dr. Hendrick explains all the various tests that the dairy should do daily to determine whether there is any part of their equipment contaminated.

In summary, the evidence on behalf of the defendant tends to establish:

1. That the Vac-Heat unit, when properly installed and utilized, not only does not impair the taste quality of the milk, but actually enhances and preserves it.

2. That there was no defect in the Vac-Heat unit leased by plaintiff.

3. That if there was any defect in the quality or taste of plaintiff's milk, such did not result from the Vac-Heat unit.

4. If there was any defective operation of the Vac-Heat unit, such resulted from plaintiff's improper assembling of the equipment, and refusal to permit it to be checked and tested by defendant's factory representatives before being put into service.

5. Any impairment to the quality or taste of plaintiff's milk, resulting from use of the Vac-Heat unit, could easily have been averted, by by-passing the system until the problem was discovered and corrected.

POINT I.

THE COURTS SHOULD HAVE GRANTED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT.

At the conclusion of plaintiff's case, defendant moved for a directed verdict. (Tr. 230). On the facts as they appeared in the record at that time, this motion should have been granted.

Blaine Anderson, on behalf of defendant, attempted to sell a Vac-Heat to the Hogan Dairy. It declined to buy it. However, plaintiff elicited the aid of Anderson, as its agent, to put it in contact with an equipment rental

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